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House of Repute
By James FitzGerald
Although a declining influence on the Canadian elite, the York Club — that magnificently aloof Romanesque relic of the robber baron era —  still stirs muted awe in the hearts of the masses who will never cross its threshold. Originally the home of George Gooderham, president of the largest distillery in the British Empire, “Wavney” was erected by architect David Roberts at the corner of Bloor and St. George between 1889 and 1892. Sold to the nascent York Club in 1909, the manor house soon embraced the most powerful old boys’ network in Canada outside the established, downtown Toronto Club. 

The asymmetrical brick and stone mansion — lauded by Frank Lloyd Wright as the finest architectural specimen of its kind in North America — mirrors the aesthetics of privilege. Inside, ornate oak, walnut and tiger maple woodwork, hand-crafted by imported Italian artisans, evokes the delicate ostentation of The Gilded Age. Outside, the saturnine, fortress-like turret, pillared porch, and gothic gables simultaneously boast and retreat: a six-foot high red-brick wall, crowned by a forbidding cast iron railing, thwarts closer scrutiny of the trappings of wealth and power by passing pedestrians. 

Historically, the club has mixed its largely plutocratic membership — more or less holding firm at 350 for over 90 years — with supernumeraries outside the Bay Street realm, notably Nobel prize winners Fred Banting and J.J.R. MacLeod, actor Hume Cronyn, critic Northrop Frye, architect Eric Arthur, and author Robertson Davies. Membership fees — a closely guarded secret but reputedly exceed $10,000 per year — are sometimes covered by corporate employers as a business expense. Tucked in a corner of the cloakroom, a single, enormous urinal, commodious enough to service a stallion, remains as a lingering artifact of the club’s traditional member bias. Women, not admitted until the early 1990s, now comprise one-third of the club; the Toronto Ladies Club was absorbed later in the decade. 

In the 1960s, the club’s squash courts, formerly the Gooderham horse stables, were expropriated to pave way for the new St. George subway station. Today, rumbling subterranean trains routinely rattle the century-old walnut shutters, disturbing the ghosts of deal-makers past, ensconced in heavy leather chairs, savouring brandy and cigars. And the club motto, “Let’s harbour here at York” — purportedly uttered by John Graves Simcoe (quoting Henry VI) when he first landed here in 1793 — is now sometimes taken literally by homeless people, wrapped in filthy blankets, stubbornly encamped at the base of the wall.

Each morning, U of T students, intent on degrees in commerce and finance, dreaming of Internet startups and future millions, hurry down St. George to class, as oblivious to the poverty in front of the wall as to the fading privilege behind it.
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